

Preeclampsia Identifies Women at Risk for Cardiovascular Disease

Preeclampsia Foundation Position Statement

Issued October 27, 2006

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Background	3
Preeclampsia	3
Cardiovascular disease	4
Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality of Preeclampsia Survivors	4
Heart Disease and Preeclampsia: Shared Risk Factors	7
Preeclampsia and Metabolic Syndrome	8
Preeclampsia Survivors: Recommendations for Follow Up	9
Lifestyle modifications	9
Antihypertensive medications	10
Management of lipid disorders	10
Impaired insulin sensitivity	11
Aspirin therapy	12
Conclusions	12
References	12
Acknowledgements	17

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is one of the most common and potentially life-threatening complications of pregnancy. It affects five to eight percent of all pregnancies and is one of the leading causes of maternal mortality and preterm delivery. But while preeclampsia itself may have devastating consequences, information on long-term effects of this disorder has been limited.

Heart disease is the leading cause of death for women in the United States. One in 2.5 women dies of cardiovascular causes. Heart disease kills more women that next five causes of death combined, including breast cancer. Despite advances in diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease, decrease in rates of cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality has not been observed in women. The traditional risk factor scoring system used to identify women who are at high risk for heart disease may underestimate the risk for up to one-third of women (1). Early identification of women at high risk for cardiovascular disease may lead to aggressive primary prevention, earlier diagnosis, more aggressive treatment, and improvement in survival.

According to the National High Blood Pressure Education Program (NHBPEP), preeclampsia does not in general increase a woman's risk for developing chronic hypertension, or other heart-related problems. However, while preeclampsia may not cause future cardiovascular disease, this population is substantially enriched with women destined to have these problems, while normotensive pregnancy suggests a better remote prognosis. Thus, the presence of preeclampsia affords a screening opportunity to detect women at risk for future heart disease, and to institute lifestyle changes that may help to avoid such consequences.

The link between heart disease and preeclampsia will be discussed in this Position Statement.

BACKGROUND

Preeclampsia is a disorder unique to human pregnancy. It is characterized by new onset hypertension in a previously normotensive woman and proteinuria after 20 weeks of pregnancy. The disease may also complicate other preexisting maternal disorders such as chronic hypertension, in which case it is termed "superimposed preeclampsia".

The etiology of preeclampsia remains unknown and several theories have been proposed to explain the pathophysiology. A current hypothesis implicates the placenta as the source for maternal pathology. Most prevalent are theories where trophoblastic invasion of the uterine spiral arteries is incomplete, resulting in relative placental ischemia, followed by release of antiangiogenic proteins from the placenta that lead to endothelial dysfunction. This final common pathway, systemic maternal endothelial dysfunction, results in hypertension, increased vascular permeability, and the activation of the coagulation cascade, while the effects of antiangiogenic proteins also affect the filtering mechanism of the kidney and are responsible for the new onset proteinuria. Changes in the levels of circulating angiogenic proteins, implicated in pathogenesis of preeclampsia, have been detected in the mother's blood, prior to onset of clinical disease. This latter observation is important in terms of developing preventive or therapeutic interventions. However, as appealing as this hypothesis is, it remains unproven.

While the above formulation represents that best documented through 2006, there are advocates for other theories. These include aberrant blood volume regulation during pregnancy, exaggerated increments in cardiac output, auto-antibodies to the angiotensin receptor, nutritional deficiencies, abnormal changes in circulating hormones and/or pressor protein, aberrations in both pro- and antioxidant balance, and enhanced systemic inflammatory state are all under investigation.

Several risk factors have been identified in women who developed preeclampsia. They include nulliparity, history of preeclampsia in previous pregnancy, extremes of maternal age, multifetal gestation, several preexisting maternal diseases (chronic hypertension, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, vascular or connective tissue disease, thrombophilia, high body mass index (BMI)), and possibly, long interval between pregnancies. Of these, obesity (where the risk of preeclampsia increases three-fold), is the most common. As over 30% of women of reproductive age are obese, increased BMI may be responsible for 30-40% of all cases of preeclampsia. Despite known risk factors, it is not possible to predict which woman will develop preeclampsia during pregnancy. Reproductive implications of pregnancy complicated by hypertensive disorder are well known, and women are advised regarding risk of preeclampsia in subsequent pregnancies. Until recently, the long-term risks for maternal health were regarded as low.

Cardiovascular disease in women has emerged as the leading cause of death for women over age 50. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in women are similar to those in men, and include age, smoking, hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia. Some risk factors are unique to women, such as estrogen exposure and postmenopausal state. Traditional Framingham risk scoring relies on shared risk factors, and may underestimate the risk for cardiovascular events in some women.

The pathophysiology of coronary artery disease may differ in women. Traditional methods of detection of obstructive atherosclerotic disease frequently miss concentric lesions common in women, leading to diagnosis of atypical chest pain in a female patient with acute coronary syndrome (2,3).

Mortality rates following acute myocardial infarction or coronary intervention are higher in women compared to men. Women appear to be under-screened and under-treated, sometimes despite falling into a high-risk category by traditional scoring. The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI)'s "The Heart Truth" campaign to direct attention to heart disease in women is designed to change that approach, and women with non-traditional risk factors such as preeclampsia may need a more aggressive approach than that suggested by current guidelines.

CARDIOVASCULAR MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY OF PREECLAMPSIA SURVIVORS

Survival of women with history of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy has been of interest to several authors. One of the best known studies is the long-term follow up of women with eclampsia by Chesley et al (4, 5). In this study mortality of eclampsia survivors was compared to that of women in general population. Increased mortality from cardiovascular disease was seen in Caucasian women who had eclampsia as multiparas, as well as African American women who had eclampsia as nulliparas or multiparas. Eclampsia was not associated with increased mortality

in general or mortality due to cardiovascular disease in women who survived eclampsia in the first pregnancy. The findings of this study were later challenged by several publications.

It should be noted that the sample size was relatively small and follow up for most women less than 30 years, making application of the statistics true for the population in general somewhat difficult, and difference in mortality less likely to be seen due to inclusion of women with history of preeclampsia and eclampsia in the control group.

Parity emerged as a risk factor for several disorders in a study by Beral (6). Based on analysis of the death registry in England and Wales between 1938 and 1960, parity was linked to increased risk for gallbladder disease, cervical cancer, coronary artery disease, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus. Based on this information, medical complications of pregnancy were warranted a closer investigation.

Several studies have been published in recent years regarding the cardiovascular outcomes of women with history of preeclampsia. The results of selected studies can be seen in Table 1. The results of these studies are different from Chelsey's eclampsia follow up study, mostly due to the difference in selection of the control cohort. In most studies women with a history of normotensive pregnancies were selected as control population, where Chesley considered general population statistics as more appropriate control cohort.

Table 1. Cardiovascular outcomes of preeclampsia survivors

STUDY				RESULTS		
Authors	Year Published	Population Studied	Outcomes Studied	Groups Compared	Outcome	OR/RR/HR (CI 95)
Jonsdottir, Armgrimsson, Geirsson, Sigvaldson, Sigfusson (7)	1995	Iceland	Death from IHD	1.HTN in pregnancy vs. general population 2.Eclampsia vs. general population 3.Preeclampsia vs. general population	Death from IHD Death from IHD Death from IHD	1.47 (1.95-2.02) 2.61 (1.11-6.12) 1.90 (1.02-3.52)
Hannaford, Terry, Hirsch (8)	1997	UK	HTN Acute MI, Chronic IHD All IHD	Toxemia vs. normotensive	HTN Acute MI Chronic IHD All IHD	2.35 (2.08-2.65) 2.24 (1.42-3.53) 1.74 (1.06-2.86) 1.65 (1.26-2.16)
Irgens, Reisaeter, Irgens, Lie (9)	2001	Norway	All Cause Death CV Causes	Preeclampsia vs. normotensive PG delivery >37 w PG delivery 16-36 w	Death CV death CV death	1.3 (1.02-1.57) 1.65 (1.01-2.07) 8.12 (4.31-15.33)
Smith, Pell, Walsh (10)	2002	Scotland	IHD	Preeclampsia vs. normotensive	IHD	2.0 (1.5-2.5)
Kestenbaum, Seliger,	2003	Women of Wash. State	Acute Cardiovascular	Gestational HTN vs. normotensive	Acute CV event	2.8 (1.6-4.8)

Easterling, Gillen, Critchlow (11) Wilson, Watson, Prescott (12)	2003	Grampian Scotland	Events 1st Thromboembolic Event HTN CVA	Mild preeclampsia vs. normotensive Severe preeclampsia vs. normotensive Preeclampsia/ecl vs. normotensive	Acute CV event Acute CV event CVA	2.2 (1.3-3.6) 3.3 (1.7-6.5) 3.59 (1.04-12.04)
Arnadottir, Geirsson, Arngrimsson, Jonsdottir (13)	2005	Iceland	IHD, Cerebrovascular Disease	HTN in Pregnancy vs. normotensive	Death due to IHD	1.66 (1.27-2.17)
Funai, Friedlander, Paltiel, Tiram, Xue (14)	2005	Israel	Death (any cause) Cardiovascular disease	1.Preeclampsia vs. normotensive 2. Preeclampsia vs. normotensive	Death Death, IHD	2.0 (1.63-2.46) 3.07 (2.18-4.34)
Wikstrom, Haglund, Olovsson, Lindeberg (15)	2005	Sweden	Fatal and Non fatal IHD	Gestational HTN vs. normotensive Mild preeclampsia vs. normotensive Severe preeclampsia vs. normotensive	IHD IHD IHD	1.6 (1.3-2.0) 1.9 (1.6-2.2) 2.8 (2.2-3.7)
Ray, Vermeulen, Schull, RedelmeierKay (16)	2005	Ontario, Canada	Composite CAD CV, PAD	Maternal placental syndrome (PE, gest HTN, placental abruption & infarction) vs. normal Preeclampsia vs. normotensive	CVD	2.0 (1.7-2.2) 2.1 (1.8-2.4)
Brown, Dueker, Jamieson (17)	2006	Baltimore - Washington, DC	CVA	Preeclampsia vs. normotensive	CVA	1.63 (1.02-2.62)

Legend:

IHD – ischemic heart disease • HTN – hypertension • CVD – cardiovascular disease • CAD – coronary artery disease • PAD – peripheral artery disease • CVA – cerebrovasacular accident • MI – myocardial infarction

Population-based studies demonstrate an increased risk of cardiovascular disease in preeclampsia survivors as compared to women with a history of normotensive pregnancy. Women with early severe preeclampsia, preeclampsia as multiparas, and especially women with recurrent preeclampsia are at much greater risk and appear to present with cardiovascular disease earlier, whereas women with preeclampsia at term and only as primiparas are more likely to experience increased risk during postmenopausal years (10,14).

These findings do not mean that every preeclampsia survivor is destined to develop heart disease, but rather, that a history of preeclampsia may identify a population at significantly increased risk for cardiovascular events compared to women with a history of healthy pregnancies. A study by Kestenbaum at al demonstrated that over the course of an average follow-up of 10 years women with history of preeclampsia experienced an increase in hazard equivalent to smoking (11). Further studies comparing the risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy to the general population should be conducted.

Furthermore, the studies do not answer if the propensity to higher risk for cardiovascular disease in this group is due to underlying conditions that predispose women to both conditions, or due to long-term vascular damage from preeclamptic episodes, the latter being less likely. It is not known if preeclampsia is an independent risk factor and conveys increased risk beyond traditional risk factors for cardiovascular disease, such as obesity, tobacco use, hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia. Additional research is indicated to evaluate the reason for the association of preeclampsia and increased cardiovascular morbidity.

HEART DISEASE AND PREECLAMPSIA: SHARED RISK FACTORS

Cardiovascular sequellae of preeclampsia prompted a search for a common mechanism or predisposing factors. Several common risk factors have emerged in women with a history of preeclampsia that can explain increased heart disease susceptibility.

One strong predictor of early cardiovascular disease is family history. It is also known that a family history of preeclampsia increases a woman's risk of developing preeclampsia herself. Family history of cardiovascular risk factors in preeclampsia was studied by Ness et al (18). Data analysis demonstrated increased prevalence of coronary artery disease and stroke in families of women who developed preeclampsia. Having two or more relatives with cardiovascular risk increased the risk of preeclampsia by 1.9 (CI95% 1.1 – 3.2), and having two or more relatives with coronary artery disease or cerebrovascular accident increased the risk to 3.2 (CI95% 1.4 – 7.7). Specific mechanisms of disease were not studied in this epidemiologic study.

A connection between certain thrombophilias and preeclampsia has been demonstrated in several studies (19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24). The strength of association has been variable in different studies and populations, suggesting that while thrombophilia may play a role in pathophysiology of preeclampsia, it does not explain all cases of the disease. Thrombophilia has also been implicated in cardiovascular disease, particularly in younger patients (25). Association between Factor V Leiden, prothrombin gene mutation, and coronary artery disease is stronger in women. Hereditary thrombophilias has been shown to have stronger association with more severe forms of preeclampsia. Both Factor V Leiden and prothrombin gene mutations are common in both populations and interpretation of the studies may be difficult to apply to individual patients.

Microvascular dysfunction has been implicated in pathophysiology of both preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease in women. It has been demonstrated that endothelial dysfunction persists following preeclamptic pregnancy as evident by endothelial-mediated brachial artery dilation and stress-induced forearm blood flow (26, 27). Specific mechanisms of the endothelial dysfunction are not clear. Several systems have been studied as possible candidates, including nitric oxide/ L-arginine (nitric oxide synthase, asymmetric dimethylarginine, dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase gene polymorphism) (28, 29,30,31), renin-angiotensin (angiotensin II receptor gene, ACE insertion/deletion gene polymorphism, angiotensinogen, angiotensin II receptor antibodies) (32 -38), and sympathetic nervous system tone dysregulation (39). The results of the studies are not consistent and are often conflicting in different populations, suggesting that more that one mechanism may be simultaneously involved.

PREECLAMPSIA AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

In recent years increasing attention has been focused on weight as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. With 60% of the population in the United States being obese or overweight, the prevalence of metabolic syndrome is expected to increase. Criteria for metabolic syndrome in women include abdominal adiposity (abdominal circumference >35 inches), elevated blood pressure (above 130/85 mmHg), elevated fasting glucose (above 100 mg/dL), and dyslipidemia (HDL-cholesterol below 50 mg/dL and triglycerides above 150 mg/dL). Metabolic syndrome has been implicated in pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, kidney disease, and sleep-disordered breathing (40, 41, 42, 43, 44). There is currently no consensus on whether or not metabolic syndrome is a stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease than the sum of its components, but recognition of this condition may facilitate implementation of lifestyle interventions that may prevent progression of the syndrome.

Another feature of preeclamptic pregnancy is insulin resistance. Normal pregnancy is associated with increased insulin levels; however, fasting insulin is higher in preeclamptic pregnancy, even prior to the onset of clinical disease (45, 46). More importantly, this feature does not reverse in the postpartum period. Women with a history of preeclampsia have insulin resistance up to 20 years after the index pregnancy (47, 48). Insulin resistance is a cardinal feature of metabolic syndrome, an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease in women (49). Increased prevalence of diabetes in eclampsia survivors had been noted by Chesley (4). Development of diabetes was preceded by eclampsia by an average of 25 years. This finding may confirm increased incidence of insulin resistance in women with history of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Further studies are currently in progress to confirm that finding. Preeclampsia may emerge as a risk marker for diabetes later in life in women who had no gestational diabetes in pregnancy.

High body mass index (BMI) is not always a feature of metabolic syndrome; however, obesity is more common in metabolic syndrome patients. High maternal BMI is a strong predictor of several adverse pregnancy outcomes, including preeclampsia. A large meta-analysis by O'Brien et al demonstrated doubling of the risk for preeclampsia with each BMI increase by 5-7 kg/m2 (50). Limited data is available to confirm that weight loss prior to pregnancy could decrease the risk of preeclampsia, but the results of follow up studies of women with weight loss following bariatric surgery are encouraging. More studies are needed to confirm the findings (51).

Women with a history of preeclamptic pregnancy frequently exhibit features of metabolic syndrome (52, 53, 54). It is unlikely that metabolic syndrome is a late complication of preeclampsia; rather it is likely a condition that would develop in these women even without pregnancy. Women with a history of preeclampsia need to be closely monitored for the development of metabolic syndrome. Counseling about appropriate lifestyle modifications may prevent onset of the syndrome as well as its complications.

PREECLAMPSIA SURVIVORS: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FOLLOW UP

Preeclampsia survivors frequently receive information about the recurrence of preeclampsia. But they are rarely advised on their increased cardiovascular risk and available interventions for risk reduction. Evidence on appropriate interventions for these women is limited, however, we will review applicability of known evidence-based national guidelines such as Seventh Report of Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure (JNC 7) (55) and Third Report of the Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (ATP III) (56, 57).

Preeclampsia is associated with cardiovascular risk later in life; however, the risk appears to be very different for women who had mild preeclampsia at term versus women who developed severe preeclampsia remote from term. Women with preeclampsia and preterm delivery (prior to 36 weeks) face significantly increased risk for cardiovascular events and thus constitute the highest risk group (10). Until further information on further risk stratification and management is available, the following recommendations are advised:

- 1. An accurate history of pregnancy complications should be obtained for every woman. When possible, actual prenatal and delivery records should be obtained and entered into a woman's medical record. If records are not available, a history may be sufficient for further risk stratification. Women often have excellent recall of their pregnancies, babies' birth weights, and of any complications of these pregnancies (58). Women with severe preeclampsia, preterm delivery, and low birth weight neonates constitute the highest risk group and need the closest monitoring.
- 2. A complete assessment of a woman's past medical as well as family history should be performed. Women with chronic hypertension, diabetes, and other comorbid conditions that may have contributed to the development of preeclampsia are often at increased cardiovascular risk due to the nature of the comorbidities, which should be managed in accordance with national guidelines. A family history of premature cardiovascular disease may identify women who need early aggressive risk factor modifications.
- 3. Physical examination and laboratory assessment of preeclampsia survivors should focus on features of metabolic syndrome, which is more prevalent in this population. Women with a history of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy need to be assessed for obesity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia, as well as abnormal glucose metabolism (impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance or diabetes), as these disorders are risk factors for cardiovascular disease, as well as preeclampsia.
- 4. Counseling and treatment goals should focus on primary prevention of cardiovascular disease:

✓ Lifestyle modifications

One of the most important steps in cardiovascular disease prevention is the improvement of lifestyle choices. One of the cornerstones of the healthy lifestyle is smoking cessation. Any patient who smokes tobacco should be routinely

advised to quit given significantly increased cardiovascular risk associated with tobacco use. This may be particularly important for preeclampsia survivors, based on one study that found a 40-fold increase in risk for a cardiovascular event if the preeclampsia survivor was a smoker (59). Other healthy lifestyle features include a healthy diet and regular exercise, according to several observational studies (62, 63). Current recommendations call for a diet low in saturated and trans fat, high in fiber and marine omega-3 fatty acids, and calorically appropriate in order to maintain healthy weight (61). Current national guidelines call for 30-60 minutes of exercise daily. While these changes should be recommended to all women, preeclampsia survivors may obtain additional benefits, such as decreased incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus given improved insulin sensitivity with regular exercise.

☑ Antihypertensive medications

Hypertensive disorders are common in general population and may be more prevalent in preeclampsia survivors. Blood pressure should be monitored on a regular basis, and annual screening can be recommended. Women should be advised on blood pressure levels that are considered normal, and prehypertension as well as hypertension should be treated according to JNC 7 recommendations. Current JNC guidelines define normal blood pressure to be less than 120/80 mm Hg, and levels between 120-139/80-89 are considered prehypertensive. Hypertension is a sustained blood pressure elevation above 140/90, or 130/80 for patients with such comorbidities as diabetes mellitus or chronic kidney disease. Given the possible increased risk of kidney disease in preeclampsia survivors (60), screening for proteinuria and microalbuminuria should be considered standard of care for these patients.

Prehypertension should be treated with aggressive lifestyle modifications, and hypertension with lifestyle modifications as well as pharmacological agents appropriate for individual patient's comorbid conditions. Due to potential metabolic effects of thiazide diuretics as well as beta-blockers (64, 65,66) and recently reported favorable effects of angiotensin receptor blockers on insulin sensitivity, the preference should be given to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE inhibitors), as well as angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) (67,68).

While current guidelines do not recommend pharmacologic therapy, a recent clinical trial suggested that there might be benefit in using ARBs in prehypertensive patients to deter progression to hypertension (69). At this point the decision to treat prehypertension with medications may be left to be determined on an individual basis. Women with a history of severe early onset disease may be candidates for early pharmacologic intervention due to significantly increased risk of cardiovascular disease and chronic kidney disease. Further research in formerly preeclamptic patients is needed.

✓ Management of lipid disorders

Disorders of lipid metabolism often occur in conjunction with hypertension as well as impaired insulin sensitivity. Fasting lipid panel should be periodically

checked in preeclampsia survivors due to an increased incidence of abnormal cholesterol levels in this population (70). Recent national guidelines define optimal LDL-C level as under 100, low HDL-C as under 50 for a woman, and recommends intensive lifestyle changes for people with multiple cardiovascular risk factors (metabolic syndrome). ATP III guidelines should be followed, and the appropriate agent discussed with the patients and prescribed in addition to implementing aggressive lifestyle modifications.

HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) should not be avoided altogether in women of reproductive age due to fear of potential exposure in pregnancy. Instead, benefits and risks of therapy should be discussed, and plans for future pregnancy should be addressed. Women of reproductive age requiring aggressive lipid-lowering therapy, including statins, need to use effective contraception to avoid exposure to such agents during pregnancy. Individual counseling on potential risks and benefits of pharmacological therapy, as well as the decision to use specific drugs should be determined between physician and patient.

Specific goals of therapy as well as threshold for initiation of pharmacologic therapy will depend on the presence of several cardiovascular risk factors and may be guided by available ATP III calculator. Once medications are deemed necessary, it may be considered to lower LDL-C levels to normal (below 100) as lower levels are associated with decrease in cardiovascular events. As was demonstrated by Heart Protection Study, people with several cardiovascular risk factors may benefit from statin therapy even if the pretreatment cholesterol levels were normal (71).

☑ Impaired insulin sensitivity

Women with a history of preeclampsia were identified in several studies as a population with a higher incidence of insulin resistance. Given that finding, it would be considered prudent to screen patients with a history of preeclampsia for diabetes or impaired fasting glucose with periodic fasting glucose measurements. Measurement of plasma glucose should be performed as recommended by the American Diabetes Association. The glucose tolerance test is currently not routinely recommended, however, it may be considered for diagnosis of diabetes. Intensive lifestyle modifications have been demonstrated to be an effective tool in prevention of progression of impaired glucose tolerance to diabetes, and should be routinely recommended to patients with insulin resistance (72).

Fasting insulin measurements are not recommended due to limited experience in clinical practice as well as significant variability of the insulin levels as well as insulin assays. Insulin sensitizers such as metformin or thiazolidinediones are not recommended for routine use in euglycemic patients even though experimental data demonstrate their efficacy in prevention of diabetes (72, 73). Use of medications in patients without diabetes would result in significant expense and exposure of large number of patients to potential side effects, whereas lifestyle modifications are inexpensive and do not carry the risk of adverse reaction.

☑ Aspirin therapy

Antiplatelet therapy is one of the cornerstones of both primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Current guidelines call for use of aspirin for primary prevention in women in high-risk category (calculated Framingham 10 year risk score above 20%) (74-76). Women in lower risk categories should not be routinely started on antiplatelet therapy due to the risk of adverse events potentially overweighing the cardiovascular benefits in this group of patients. At this time, the risk of women with history of preeclampsia cannot be accurately estimated or calculated based on Framingham data.

Decision on aspirin use may need to be determined based on the severity of the preeclampsia as women with early severe disease have significantly increased risk (up to an eight-fold increase compared to women with normotensive pregnancies) (10). Additional research is clearly needed; meanwhile, adherence to the current guidelines is advised.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. In several large studies, women with a history of preeclampsia have been found to develop heart disease at an increased rate compared to women with a history of normal pregnancies.
- 2. Preeclampsia and heart disease share several risk factors, including family history, thrombophilia, insulin resistance, microvascular dysfunction, and metabolic syndrome.
- 3. Women with a history of preeclampsia particularly early morbid preeclampsia may especially benefit from careful monitoring for conventional cardiovascular risk factors, aggressive lifestyle modifications aimed at prevention of cardiovascular disease, and counseling about implications of pregnancy complications for future pregnancies and future cardiovascular health.
- 4. Future studies should be focused on further elucidation of the link between preeclampsia and heart disease, screening for early cardiovascular disease in preeclampsia survivors, as well as preventive strategies to improve maternal health following adverse pregnancy outcome.

REFERENCES

- 1. Michos ED, Vasamreddy CR, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Moy TF, Fishman EK, Becker LC, Blumenthal RS. Women with a low Framingham risk score and a family history of premature coronary heart disease have a high prevalence of subclinical coronary atherosclerosis. Am Heart J. 2005;150:1276-81.
- Sharaf BL, Pepine CJ, Kerensky RA, Reis SE, Reichek N, Rogers WJ, Sopko G, Kelsey SF, Holubkov R, Olson M, Miele NJ, Williams DO, Merz CN; WISE Study Group. Detailed angiographic analysis of women with suspected ischemic chest pain (pilot phase data from the NHLBI-sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation [WISE] Study Angiographic Core Laboratory). Am J Cardiol. 2001;87:937-41; A3.
- 3. Reis SE, Holubkov R, Lee JS, Sharaf B, Reichek N, Rogers WJ, Walsh EG, Fuisz AR, Kerensky R, Detre KM, Sopko G, Pepine CJ. Coronary flow velocity response to adenosine characterizes coronary microvascular function in women with chest pain and no obstructive coronary disease.

- Results from the pilot phase of the Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;33:1469-75.
- 4. Chesley LC, Annitto JE, Cosgrove RA. Long-term follow-up study of eclamptic women. Fifth periodic report. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1968;101:886-98.
- 5. Chesley LC. Remote prognosis after eclampsia. Perspect Nephrol Hypertens. 1976;5:31-40
- 6. Beral V. Long term effects of childbearing on health. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1985;39:343-6.
- 7. Jonsdottir LS, Arngrimsson R, Geirsson RT, Sigvaldason H, Sigfusson N. Death rates from ischemic heart disease in women with a history of hypertension in pregnancy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1995;74:772-6.
- 8. Hannaford P, Ferry S, Hirsch S. Cardiovascular sequelae of toxaemia of pregnancy. Heart. 1997;77:154-8.
- 9. Irgens HU, Reisaeter L, Irgens LM, Lie RT. Long term mortality of mothers and fathers after pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2001;323:1213-7.
- 10. Smith GC, Pell JP, Walsh D. Pregnancy complications and maternal risk of ischaemic heart disease: a retrospective cohort study of 129,290 births. Lancet. 2001;357:2002-6.
- 11. Kestenbaum B, Seliger SL, Easterling TR, Gillen DL, Critchlow CW, Stehman-Breen CO, Schwartz SM Cardiovascular and thromboembolic events following hypertensive pregnancy. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003;42:982-9.
- 12. Wilson BJ, Watson MS, Prescott GJ, Sunderland S, Campbell DM, Hannaford P, Smith WC. Hypertensive diseases of pregnancy and risk of hypertension and stroke in later life: results from cohort study. BMJ. 2003;326:845.
- 13. Arnadottir GA, Geirsson RT, Arngrimsson R, Jonsdottir LS, Olafsson O. Cardiovascular death in women who had hypertension in pregnancy: a case-control study. BJOG. 2005;112:286-92.
- 14. Funai EF, Friedlander Y, Paltiel O, Tiram E, Xue X, Deutsch L, Harlap S. Long-term mortality after preeclampsia. Epidemiology. 2005;16:206-15.
- 15. Wikstrom AK, Haglund B, Olovsson M, Lindeberg SN The risk of maternal ischaemic heart disease after gestational hypertensive disease. BJOG. 2005;112:1486-91.
- 16. Ray JG, Vermeulen MJ, Schull MJ, Redelmeier DA. Cardiovascular health after maternal placental syndromes (CHAMPS): population-based retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2005;366:1797-803.
- 17. Brown DW, Dueker N, Jamieson DJ, Cole JW, Wozniak MA, Stern BJ, Giles WH, Kittner SJ Preeclampsia and the risk of ischemic stroke among young women: results from the Stroke Prevention in Young Women Study. Stroke. 2006;37:1055-9. Epub. 2006.
- 18. Ness RB, Markovic N, Bass D, Harger G, Roberts JM. Family history of hypertension, heart disease, and stroke among women who develop hypertension in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102:1366-71.
- 19. Nurk E, Tell GS, Refsum H, Ueland PM, Vollset SE. Factor V Leiden, pregnancy complications and adverse outcomes: the Hordaland Homocysteine Study. QJM. 2006;99:289-98.
- 20. Jarvenpaa J, Pakkila M, Savolainen ER, Perheentupa A, Jarvela I, Ryynanen M. Evaluation of factor V Leiden, prothrombin and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene mutations in patients with severe pregnancy complications in northern Finland. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2006;62:28-32.
- 21. Mello G, Parretti E, Marozio L, Pizzi C, Lojacono A, Frusca T, Facchinetti F, Benedetto C. Thrombophilia is significantly associated with severe preeclampsia: results of a large-scale, case-controlled study. Hypertension. 2005;46:1270-4.
- 22. Lin J, August P. Genetic thrombophilias and preeclampsia: a meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;105:182-92.
- 23. Ogunyemi D, Ku W, Arkel Y. The association between inherited thrombophilia, antiphospholipid antibodies and lipoprotein A levels with obstetrical complications in pregnancy. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2002;14:157-62.

- 24. Livingston JC, Barton JR, Park V, Haddad B, Phillips O, Sibai BM. Maternal and fetal inherited thrombophilias are not related to the development of severe preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001;185:153-7.
- 25. Segev A, Ellis MH, Segev F, Friedman Z, Reshef T, Sparkes JD, Tetro J, Pauzner H, David D. High prevalence of thrombophilia among young patients with myocardial infarction and few conventional risk factors. Int J Cardiol. 2005;98:421-4.
- 26. Chambers JC, Fusi L, Malik IS, Haskard DO, DeSwiet M, Kooner JS Association of maternal endothelial dysfunction with preeclampsia. JAMA 2985. 2001;1607 –1612.
- 27. Agatisa PK, Ness RB, Roberts JM, Constantino JP, Kuller LH, McLaughlin MK Impairment of endothelial function in women with a history of preeclampsia: an indicator of cardiovascular risk AJP Heart 286. 2004;1389-1393.
- 28. Landau R, Xie HG, Dishy V, Wood AJ, Stein CM, Smiley RM. No association of the Asp298 variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene with preeclampsia. Am J Hypertens. 2004;17:391-4.
- 29. Serrano NC, Casas JP, Diaz LA, Paez C, Mesa CM, Cifuentes R, Monterrosa A, Bautista A, Hawe E, Hingorani AD, Vallance P, Lopez-Jaramillo P. Endothelial NO synthase genotype and risk of preeclampsia: a multicenter case-control study. Hypertension. 2004;44:702-7.
- 30. Savvidou MD, Hingorani AD, Tsikas D, Frolich JC, Vallance P, Nicolaides KH. Endothelial dysfunction and raised plasma concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine in pregnant women who subsequently develop pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2003;361:1511-7.
- 31. Akbar F, Heinonen S, Pirskanen M, Uimari P, Tuomainen TP, Salonen JT. Haplotypic association of DDAH1 with susceptibility to pre-eclampsia. Mol Hum Reprod. 2005;11:73-77.
- 32. Plummer S, Tower C, Alonso P, Morgan L, Baker P, Broughton-Pipkin F, Kalsheker N. Haplotypes of the angiotensin II receptor genes AGTR1 and AGTR2 in women with normotensive pregnancy and women with preeclampsia. Hum Mutat. 2004;24:14-20.
- 33. Gurdol F, Isbilen E, Yilmaz H, Isbir T, Dirican A.The association between preeclampsia and angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism. Clin Chim Acta. 2004;341:127-31.
- 34. Bouba I, Makrydimas G, Kalaitzidis R, Lolis DE, Siamopoulos KC, Georgiou I.Interaction between the polymorphisms of the renin-angiotensin system in preeclampsia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2003;110:8-11.
- 35. Roberts CB, Rom L, Moodley J, Pegoraro RJ. Hypertension-related gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia, eclampsia and gestational hypertension in Black South African women. J Hypertens. 2004;22:945-8.
- 36. Levesque S, Moutquin JM, Lindsay C, Roy MC, Rousseau F. Implication of an AGT haplotype in a multigene association study with pregnancy hypertension. Hypertension. 2004;43:71-78.
- 37. Tempfer CB, Jirecek S, Riener EK, Zeisler H, Denschlag D, Hefler L, Husslein PW. Polymorphisms of thrombophilic and vasoactive genes and severe preeclampsia: a pilot study. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 2004;11:227-31.
- 38. Wallukat G, Neichel D, Nissen E, Homuth V, Luft FC. Agonistic autoantibodies directed against the angiotensin II AT1 receptor in patients with preeclampsia. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003;81:79-83.
- 39. Fischer T, Schobel HP, Frank H, Andreae M, Schneider KT, Heusser K. Pregnancy-induced sympathetic overactivity: a precursor of preeclampsia. Eur J Clin Invest. 2004;34:443-8.
- 40. Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Parise H, Sullivan L, Meigs JB. Metabolic syndrome as a precursor of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2005;112:3066-72.
- 41. Marchesini G, Bugianesi E, Forlani G, Cerrelli F, Lenzi M, Manini R, Natale S, Vanni E, Villanova N, Melchionda N, Rizzetto M Nonalcoholic fatty liver, steatohepatitis, and the metabolic syndrome. Hepatology. 2003;37:917-23.
- 42. Marchesini G, Brizi M, Bianchi G, Tomassetti S, Bugianesi E, Lenzi M, McCullough AJ, Natale S, Forlani G, Melchionda N. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a feature of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2001;50:1844-50.

- 43. Vgontzas AN, Papanicolaou DA, Bixler EO, Hopper K, Lotsikas A, Lin HM, Kales A, Chrousos GP. Sleep apnea and daytime sleepiness and fatigue: relation to visceral obesity, insulin resistance, and hypercytokinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:1151-8.
- 44. Coughlin SR, Mawdsley L, Mugarza JA, Calverley PM, Wilding JP. Obstructive sleep apnoea is independently associated with an increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:735-41.
- 45. Wolf M, Sandler L, Munoz K, Hsu K, Ecker JL, Thadhani R. First trimester insulin resistance and subsequent preeclampsia: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:1563-8.
- 46. Innes KE, Wimsatt JH, McDuffie R. Relative glucose tolerance and subsequent development of hypertension in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;97:905-10.
- 47. Wolf M, et al Preeclampsia and future cardiovascular disease: potential role of altered angiogenesis and insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:6239-43.
- 48. Sattar N, Ramsay J, Grawford L, Chevne H, Greer IA Classic and novel risk factor parameters in women with a history of preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2003;42:39-42. Epub 2003.
- 49. Hu G, Qiao Q, Tuomilehto J, Balkau B, Borch-Johnsen K, Pyorala K; DECODE Study Group. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in nondiabetic European men and women. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164:1066-76.
- 50. O'Brien TE, Ray JG, Chan Wee-Shian Maternal body mass index and the risk of preeclampsia: a systematic overview. Epidemiology. 2003;14:368-374.
- 51. Wittgrove AC, Jester L, Wittgrove P, Clark GW. Pregnancy following gastric bypass for morbid obesity. Obes Surg. 1998;8:461-4; discussion 465-6.
- 52. Barden AE, Beilin LJ, Ritchie J, Walters BN, Michael C. Does a predisposition to metabolic syndrome sensitize women to develop pre-eclampsia. J Hypertens. 1999;17:1307-15.
- 53. Pouta A, Hartikainen A-L, Sovio U, Gissler M, Laitinen J, McCarthy MI, Ruokonen A, Elliott P, Jarvelin M-R. Manifestations of metabolic syndrome after hypertensive pregnancy. Hypertension. 2004;43:825-831.
- 54. Forest J-C, Girouard J, Masse J, Moutquin J-M, Kharfi A, Ness, RB, Roberts JM. Early occurrence of metabolic syndrome after hypertension in pregnancy. Obst Gynecol. 2005;105:1373-89.
- 55. Lenfant C, Chobanian AV, Jones DW, Roccella EJ; Joint National Committee on the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure (JNC 7): resetting the hypertension sails. Hypertension. 2003;41:1178-9.
- 56. Executive Summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA. 2001;285:2486-2497.
- 57. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Merz CN, Brewer HB Jr, Clark LT, Hunninghake DB, Pasternak RC, Smith SC Jr, Stone NJ; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American College of Cardiology Foundation; American Heart Association. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. Circulation. 2004;110:227-39.
- 58. Sou SC, Chen WJ, Hsieh WS, Jeng SF. Severe obstetric complications and birth characteristics in preterm or term delivery were accurately recalled by mothers. J Clin Epidemiol. 2006;59:429-35.
- Croft P, Hannaford PC. Risk factors for acute myocardial infarction in women: evidence from the Royal College of General Practitioners' oral contraception study. BMJ. 1989;298:165-8.
- 60. Vikse BE, Irgens LM, Bostad L, Iversen BM. Adverse perinatal outcome and later kidney biopsy in the mother. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17:837-45.
- 61. American Heart Association Nutrition Committee; Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franch HA, Franklin B, Kris-Etherton P, Harris WS, Howard B, Karanja N, Lefevre M, Rudel L, Sacks F, Van Horn L, Winston M, Wylie-Rosett J. Diet and lifestyle recommendations revision 2006: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Circulation. 2006;114:82-96.

- 62. Kurth T, Moore SC, Gaziano JM, Kase CS, Stampfer MJ, Berger K, Buring JE. Healthy lifestyle and the risk of stroke in women. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:1403-9.
- 63. Stampfer MJ, Hu FB, Manson JE, Rimm EB, Willett WC. Primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women through diet and lifestyle.N Engl J Med. 2000;343:16-22.
- 64. Lindholm LH, Persson M, Alaupovic P, Carlberg B, Svensson A, Samuelsson O. Metabolic outcome during 1 year in newly detected hypertensives: results of the Antihypertensive Treatment and Lipid Profile in a North of Sweden Efficacy Evaluation (ALPINE study). J Hypertens. 2003;21:1563-74.
- 65. Dahlof B, Sever PS, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers DG, Caulfield M, Collins R, Kjeldsen SE, Kristinsson A, McInnes GT, Mehlsen J, Nieminen M, O'Brien E, Ostergren J; ASCOT Investigators. Prevention of cardiovascular events with an antihypertensive regimen of amlodipine adding perindopril as required versus atenolol adding bendroflumethiazide as required, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Blood Pressure Lowering Arm (ASCOT-BPLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;366:895-906.
- 66. ALLHAT Officers and Coordinators for the ALLHAT Collaborative Research Group. The Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial. Major outcomes in high-risk hypertensive patients randomized to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or calcium channel blocker vs diuretic: The Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). JAMA. 2002;288:2981-97.
- 67. McCall KL, Craddock D, Edwards K. Effect of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors and Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Blockers on the Rate of New-Onset Diabetes Mellitus: A Review and Pooled Analysis. Pharmacotherapy. 2006;26.
- 68. Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Mancia G, McInnes GT, Hua T, Weber MA, Coca A, Ekman S, Girerd X, Jamerson K, Larochelle P, MacDonald TM, Schmieder RE, Schork MA, Stolt P, Viskoper R, Widimsky J, Zanchetti A; VALUE Trial Investigators. Effects of valsartan compared to amlodipine on preventing type 2 diabetes in high-risk hypertensive patients: the VALUE trial. J Hypertens. 2006;24:1405-12.
- 69. Julius S, Nesbitt SD, Egan BM, Weber MA, Michelson EL, Kaciroti N, Black HR, Grimm RH Jr, Messerli FH, Oparil S, Schork MA; Trial of Preventing Hypertension (TROPHY) Study Investigators. Feasibility of treating prehypertension with an angiotensin-receptor blocker. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:1685-97.
- 70. Gratacos E, Casals E, Gomez O, Llurba E, Mercader I, Cararach V, Cabero L. Increased susceptibility to low density lipoprotein oxidation in women with a history of pre-eclampsia. BJOG. 2003;110:400-4.
- 71. "Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group (writing committee: Collins R, Armitage J, Parish S, Sleight, Peto R). MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial." Lancet. 2002;360:7-22.
- 72. Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group, Reduction in the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes with Lifestyle Intervention or Metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:393-403.
- 73. Hung YJ, Hsieh CH, Pei D, Kuo SW, Lee JT, Wu LY, He CT, Lee CH, Fan SC, Sheu WH. Rosiglitazone improves insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2005;62:85-91.
- 74. Berger JS, Roncaglioni MC, Avanzini F, Pangrazzi I, Tognoni G, Brown DL. Aspirin for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in women and men: a sex-specific meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JAMA. 2006;295:306-13.
- 75. Mosca L, Appel LJ, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, Chandra-Strobos N, Fabunmi RP, Grady D, Haan CK, Hayes SN, Judelson DR, Keenan NL, McBride P, Oparil S, Ouyang P, Oz MC, Mendelsohn ME, Pasternak RC, Pinn VW, Robertson RM, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Sila CA, Smith SC Jr, Sopko G, Taylor AL, Walsh BW, Wenger NK, Williams CL; American Heart Association; American College of Cardiology; American College of Nurse Practitioners; American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; American College of Physicians; American Medical Women's Association; Association of Black Cardiologists; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; National Heart,

- Lung and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health; Office of Research on Women's Health; Society of Thoracic Surgeons; World Heart Federation. Evidence-based guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention in women. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43:900-21.
- 76. Ridker PM, Cook NR, Lee IM, Gordon D, Gaziano JM, Manson JE, Hennekens CH, Buring JE. A randomized trial of low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in women. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:1293-1304.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Preeclampsia Foundation wishes to thank Dr. Tanya Melnik, University of Minnesota, for her extensive research and primary authorship of this statement; Drs. Marshall Lindheimer and Thomas Easterling for their editorial contribution; the rest of the Foundation's medical board for their review and insights; Ms. Eleni Tsigas for her production management and Ms. Alexandria Powell for her copyediting.